
Please ask for Democratic Services DDI (01362) 656225
e-mail: democraticservices@breckland.gov.uk

AGENDA
NOTE: In the case of non-members, this agenda is for information only

Committee - OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMISSION

Date & Time - Thursday 8th March 2018 at 2.00 pm

Venue - Anglia Room, The Conference Suite, 
Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham

Members of the Committee requiring further information, or with specific 
questions, are asked to raise these with the appropriate officer at least 
two working days before the meeting.  If the information requested is 

available, this will be provided, and reported to Committee.

Members of the OSC

Councillor E. Gould (Chairman)
Mr D. R. R. Oliver (Vice-Chairman)
Mr P. M. M. Dimoglou
Mr R. F. W. Brame
Mr D. M. Crawford
Mr T. J. Jermy

Mr A.P. Joel
Mr R.G. Kybird
Mrs S.M. Matthews
Mr M. J. Nairn
Mr R. R. Richmond
Mrs L.S. Turner

Substitute Members
Cllr CR Bowes
Mr H Clarke
Mr J Newton
Mr P Wilkinson

PERSONS ATTENDING THE MEETING ARE 
REQUESTED TO TURN OFF MOBILE 

TELEPHONES
Democratic Services 
Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke,
Dereham Norfolk, NR19 1EE

Date: Tuesday 27 February 2018

Public Document Pack





Overview and Scrutiny Commission
08 March 2018

PROTOCOL

Working Style of the Overview & Scrutiny Commission (OSC) and Other 
Scrutiny Bodies

This document sets out the roles of Members and Officers, and the general principles to be adopted 
by the OSC and other scrutiny bodies such as Scrutiny Task and Finish Groups.

Member Leadership

Members of the OSC will take the lead in selecting topics for overview and scrutiny and will recognise 
that best practice identifies scrutiny as a non-executive Member-led activity. The OSC will expect 
Cabinet members to take prime responsibility for answering their questions about topics which chiefly 
relate to the Council’s activities.

A Constructive Atmosphere

Meetings of the OSC will be constructive and not judgmental. The Commission recognises and 
accepts that effective scrutiny is best achieved through challenging and constructive enquiry. People 
giving evidence should be given due respect and not made to feel under attack.

Independence 

Members of the OSC/task and finish groups will not be subject to whipping arrangements by the party 
groups.

Respect and Trust

Meetings will be conducted in a spirit of mutual respect and trust.

Consensus

Members of the OSC/task and finish groups will work together and, while recognising political 
allegiances, will attempt to achieve consensus and agreed targeted recommendations. There will be 
recognition that the OSC has a primary duty to scrutinise on behalf of the community.

Openness and Transparency

The OSC’s business will be open and transparent, except where there are sound reasons for 
protecting confidentiality. The minutes of the Commission’s meetings will explain the discussion and 
debate so that they can be understood by an outside reader.

Impartial and Independent Officer Advice

Officers who advise and support scrutiny will give impartial and independent advice, as officers 
support all members of the Council.

Regular Review

There will be regular reviews of how the scrutiny process is working, and a willingness to change if it 
is not working effectively.

Programming and Planning 

It is the responsibility of the OSC and the wider non-executive to determine its work programme and 
to allocate specific reviews either through a dedicated task and finish group or to undertake a review 
itself. Before each topic/review is commenced, the O&SC will agree the scope of the exercise, what 
information they will need initially, and which members, officers and external witnesses they wish to 
see.



Managing Time

The OSC will aim to conclude the business of each meeting in reasonable time. The order of business 
will be arranged as far as possible to minimise the demands on the time of witnesses. 

Member/Officer Roles

Executive members will regularly be called to account for the decisions they have made and to 
explain progress in key areas of their portfolio – and in the case of the Council Leader – the Council 
as a whole. Members will be expected to produce and present a brief written account of their 
executive activities and will then be questioned by members of the OSC for a period no longer than 20 
minutes.

Co-optees

“Expert witnesses” may be co-opted onto scrutiny task and finish groups to provide technical 
assistance to the review. Co-optees possess no voting rights.

Substitutes

Substitute members will be so listed on the agenda papers of the Overview & Scrutiny Commission. It 
is a member responsibility to alert a substitute in the event that she/he cannot attend a meeting. 



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
08 March 2018

PART A - ITEMS OPEN TO THE PUBLIC

Page(s)
herewith

1. MINUTES 7 - 15
To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 25 January 2018.

2. APOLOGIES AND SUBSTITUTES 
To receive apologies for absence and to note substitute Members in 
attendance.

3. URGENT BUSINESS 
To note whether the Chairman proposes to accept any item as urgent 
business pursuant to Section 100(B)(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 
1972.

4. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
The duties to register, disclose and not to participate for the entire 
consideration of the matter, in respect of any matter in which a Member 
has a disclosable pecuniary interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the 
Localism Act 2011.  Members are also required to withdraw from the 
meeting room as stated in the Standing Orders of this Council.

5. NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 
To note the names of any non-members or public speakers wishing to 
address the meeting.

6. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY) 

7. NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS 
An opportunity for Members to ask questions of Matt Worden, Area 
Manager South Department for Community and Environmental Services, 
Norfolk County Council.

8. CAR PARK MANAGEMENT 
To receive a verbal update from Executive Director of Place.

9. HR POLICY HANDBOOK UPDATES 16 - 24
Report of Deputy Leader and Executive Member of Strategy, Governance 
and Transformation, Councillor Sam Chapman-Allen.

10. TASK AND FINISH GROUPS 
To receive a verbal update from the Task & Finish Group Chairmen in 
respect of the following meetings:

 Public Loans Works Board - Councillor Robert Kybird



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
08 March 2018

Page(s)
herewith

 Housing - Councillor Lynda Turner.

11. OUTSIDE BODY FEEDBACK (STANDING ITEM) 
To receive an update from representatives on Outside Bodies.

12. SCRUTINY CALL-INS (STANDING ITEM) 
To note whether any decisions have been called-in for scrutiny.

13. COUNCILLOR CALL FOR ACTION (STANDING ITEM) 
To consider any references.

14. WORK PROGRAMME 25 - 31
(a) A copy of the Commission’s work programme is attached.  The 

Commission is asked to agree any additions, deletions or 
amendments to the programme as appropriate.

(b) Member Issues:  In accordance with the Commission’s protocol for 
member leadership, which states that members of the Commission 
will take the lead in selecting topics for overview and scrutiny and 
in the questioning of witnesses, members are invited to put forward 
items for selection for future review.

A copy of the Key Decision Plan is attached for Members’ information.

15. NEXT MEETING 
To note the arrangements for the next meeting to be held on 19 April 2018 
at 2.00pm in the Anglia Room, Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, 
Dereham NR19 1EE.



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMISSION

Held on Thursday, 25 January 2018 at 2.00 pm in the
Anglia Room, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham

PRESENT
Councillor E. Gould (Chairman)
Mr P. M. M. Dimoglou
Mr R. F. W. Brame
Mr D. M. Crawford
Mr T. J. Jermy
Mr A.P. Joel

Mr R.G. Kybird
Mrs S.M. Matthews
Mr R. R. Richmond
Mrs L.S. Turner
Mr P. S. Wilkinson (Substitute Member)

Also Present
Mr H. E. J. Clarke
Mr J. Newton
Mr S. H. Chapman-Allen
Mr P.D. Claussen
Mr M. S. Robinson
Mr P. R. W. Darby

Mr P.J. Duigan
Mrs T. Hewett
Mrs J. Hollis
Mr F.J. Sharpe
Mrs A. M. Webb

In Attendance
Rob Walker - Executive Director Place
Jon Berry - Head of Development Management
Alex Chrusciak - Director of Planning and Building Control
Stephen James - Communities Manager
Stephen Ottewell - Director Capita Planning & Building Control
Greg Pearson - Corporate Improvement and Performance 

Manager
Dylan Powles - Customer Services Manager
Riana Rudland - Breckland Place Manager
Sarah Simpson - Environmental Awareness Co-ordinator
Mark Stinson - Executive Manager Governance (Deputy 

Monitoring Officer)
Leanne Neave - Democratic Services Officer
Julie Britton - Democratic Services Officer

Action By
The order of the agenda was changed

 
1/18 MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 1) 

The minutes of the meeting held on 14 December 2017 were confirmed 
as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.

2/18 APOLOGIES AND SUBSTITUTES (AGENDA ITEM 2) 

Apologies had been received from Councillors Oliver and Nairn. 
Councillor Wilkinson attended as a substitute member. 

3/18 URGENT BUSINESS (AGENDA ITEM 3) 

None.

4/18 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS (AGENDA ITEM 4) 

None.

7

Agenda Item 1



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
25 January 2018

2

Action By

5/18 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING (AGENDA 
ITEM 5) 

Councillors Sharpe, Darby, Clarke, Duigan, Claussen, Hollis, Newton, 
Robinson, T Hewett, Webb, S Chapman-Allen.

6/18 CAPITA UPDATE (AGENDA ITEM 6) 

Mark Dally, Regional Manager for Capita, was joined by Jon Berry, 
Head of Development Management, Steve Ottewell, National Director 
and Alex Chrusciak, Director of Planning & Building Control for 
Breckland. 

A presentation was provided, and Members were reminded that a 
Service Improvement Pan highlighted a number of areas including 
responsiveness to Members, engagement with applicants, engagement 
with key stakeholders and the working relationship between officers.

Councillor Wilkinson was pleased to report that an issue previously 
raised in relation to Parish Councils not being informed of S106 monies 
had now improved and he passed on this thanks to all concerned. 
Councillor Turner felt that District Councillors should also be kept 
informed. 

The Chairman raised a concern in relation to staff retention. The 
structure chart showed Capita Breckland was fully staffed and she 
asked how these officers could be retained. The Director of Planning & 
Building Control for Breckland advised that nationally the Capita pay 
scheme was very competitive but a need to increase career flexibility 
was required as had been highlighted in exit interviews.  Staff had felt 
that there was little flexibility to their working patterns to allow cover for 
school hours; therefore, a request had been submitted for IT 
improvements to enable remote working. 

The Chairman felt that the telephone call-back system should be 
included in the IT upgrade as she was concerned that two working days 
was too long for residents to wait. The Director of Planning & Building 
Control for Breckland advised that the call-back system had been 
introduced to respond to general advice calls.  For specific planning 
applications the IT upgrade would allow Officers to take calls wherever 
they were. The amount of calls received and the time taken to call back 
would be monitored. 

Councillor Jermy stated that at a previous meeting Capita had been 
challenged on its Key Performance Indicators (KPI’s). New KPI’s had 
now been highlighted and he asked if Capita was confident that these 
KPI’s would allow the Commission the ability to scrutinise performance 
adequately in the future. The Executive Director for Place advised that 
Capita was in the process of creating a new Business Plan and KPI’s 
would form part of that. The aim was to measure customer satisfaction 
based on quality of service rather than quantity.

The Chairman proposed that as part of the Quarterly Performance 
report the targets for Capita should be reported to the Commission as 
well as the performance against them. The Executive Director for Place 

8



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
25 January 2018

3

Action By
confirmed that this could be provided.

A discussion then took place in relation to the Agents Forum and 
training for Parish Councils.  It was felt that more training was needed 
covering the basics of Planning due to the fact that Parish Councillors 
changed quite frequently.

Councillor T Hewett raised a number of questions including the generic 
email address for Members to use and the complaints procedure as it 
appeared the emphasis was on having a better complaints process as 
opposed to reducing the number of complaints received. It was 
confirmed that the Members’ contact was the Head of Development 
Management, Mr Jon Berry, who could be called for advice; the generic 
email address had been set up so that in his absence Members were 
still able to make contact with the team. It was further confirmed that by 
its very nature, Planning attracted complaints as the service often had 
to make decisions where there were competing interests.  The process 
however was to deal more effectively with legitimate administrative 
complaints with a view to reducing those received. 

The Chairman mentioned a previous discussion regarding the number 
of applications received by Breckland Council officers for sign off on the 
determination date. The Head of Development Management highlighted 
the new target - applications would be handed to Officers 4 to 5 days 
prior to the determination date; this target was achievable for minor 
applications.

Another matter discussed was in relation to planning enforcement 
particularly in relation to protected trees. Members were advised that 
planning enforcement was a reactive service and there was a dedicated 
resource for the protection of trees.

Following further discussion, it was agreed that the Executive Member 
responsible for Planning should be asked to attend an Overview & 
Scrutiny Commission meeting in 6 months followed by the Capita Team 
6 months after that.

<2> 
Leanne 
Neave, 
Teresa 
Smith 
<3> Alex 
Chrusciak 

7/18 QUARTER 3 2017-18 PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW REPORT 
(AGENDA ITEM 7) 

The Deputy Leader and Executive Member for Strategy, Governance 
and Transformation, Councillor Sam Chapman-Allen presented the 
report. 

The report identified areas of success, including recycling/composting 
levels, missed collections; LA error rate; and Council Tax/business rates 
receipts.  Areas requiring improvement included customer contact 
statistics, staff turnover and complaints upheld.

The Chairman queried if the average wait in seconds was for the 
Contact Centre or all phones including Capita.  The Executive Member 
confirmed it was the Contact Centre; there was no facility to monitor 
calls taken by Capita. 

The Executive Member for People and Information, Councillor Alison 

9



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
25 January 2018

4

Action By
Webb expressed concern with figures being red for some time.  
However, measures were in place for continuous improvement. The aim 
was for the Quarter Four Performance report to show as amber and 
green. 

The Chairman queried if the Contact Centre had an issue with staff 
retention. The Deputy Leader confirmed that there had been many 
individuals on fixed term contracts due to the Service Review.  It had 
been agreed in November that the centres in some of the market towns 
would close and the staff would return to Elizabeth House.

Councillor Jermy was encouraged by Councillor Webb’s comments. He 
pointed out that there needed to be a strong stance taken as the 
commission had seen over the last year continuous red for the Contact 
Centre with a variety of reasons given for call abandonment.  The 
service that impacted residents the most was the quality of the Contact 
Centre. 

Councillor Dimoglou echoed Councillor Jermy’s comments stating the 
Contact Centre had had reduced success since 2015. He felt training 
days and sickness were not justifiable reasons for call waiting times and 
questioned what steps were being taken.

The Executive Member, Councillor Webb advised that staff from the 
satellite offices were being brought back to Elizabeth House to answer 
calls and help the team. She advised temporary agency staff could not 
be employed as they were not sufficiently trained.

The Deputy Leader extended an invitation to members to visit the 
contact centre to witness the work they do. 

The number of options given when residents called the Council was 
discussed and Dylan Powles, Customer Services Manager, advised that 
these were in place to ensure the calls were directed to the appropriate 
officer. In a recent survey 90% of callers confirmed they had no issue 
with using the number options. 

8/18 BRIEFING ON GENERAL DATA PROTECTION REGULATIONS 
(AGENDA ITEM 8) 

The Executive Manager for Governance gave an update on the 
Council’s preparation for the EU’s General Data Protection Regulation 
(GDPR) that would apply from 25 May 2018. The new law would bring a 
21st century approach to data protection.  It expanded the rights of 
individuals to control how their personal information was collected and 
processed, and placed a range of new obligations on organisations to 
be more accountable for data protection.

Core obligations in relation to individuals’ rights had been enhanced and 
extended in a number of important areas including the right to be 
forgotten, to have personal date erased; the right to correct inaccurate 
personal data and the right to object to processing.

GDPR compliance was not just a matter of ticking a few boxes; the 
Regulation demanded that compliance could be demonstrated which 
involved taking a risk-based approach to data protection, ensuring 

10



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
25 January 2018

5

Action By
appropriate policies and procedures were in place as well as building a 
workplace culture of data privacy and security.

Without the appropriate compliance framework in place organisations 
could face significant fines of up to 20 million euros or 4% of global 
turnover as well as reputational damage.

There was a great deal of work to be done prior to May 2018.  An 
internal Officer Working Group had already been set up, and to assist 
Members, training had been arranged on 28 March 2018 due to the 
importance of this matter.

A Member asked if it was correct that any Town or Parish Member 
could become an official Data Protection Officer (DPO) or whether it 
should be the Clerk. The Executive Manager for Governance explained 
that this very question had been raised at national level and the 
response had been that there was nothing to prevent a Clerk from being 
the DPO; however, it was not recommended.  He informed Members 
that there was an advisory organisation offering a Data Protection 
service for a small fee and that the Information Commissioner’s Office 
had established a helpline for small organisations.

Councillor Turner advised that their Clerk was not going to become the 
DPO for Shipdham Parish and encouraged all Members to attend the 
training courses and to share the cost of an independent DPO.

Councillor Sharpe said that one of his smaller parishes was proposing 
to do nothing and was hoping to become exempt from the Act.  He 
asked what the penalty would be if it failed to comply.  The Executive 
Manager for Governance advised that all Parish and Town Councils 
were currently obliged to adhere to the Data Protection Act 1998 but 
after 25 May 2018 any organisation could potentially be fined if it was 
not GDPR compliant.  It was difficult to advise at this stage as it 
depended on the circumstances and the organisation; however, 
Elizabeth Denham, the Information Commissioner, had recognised that 
the scale of the task, and did not intend to take a hard line on 25 May.  
It was however, very important for all organisations to make proper 
plans and to prepare now for GDPR implementation.

The Chairman felt that this was a massive task ahead for all concerned.

9/18 SERCO CONTRACT UPDATE (AGENDA ITEM 9) 

Mr Mike Boult, Managing Director and Mr David Pennicard, Operations 
Director from Serco provided Members with a detailed presentation.  
The Chairman then invited questions.

Councillor Turner mentioned and praised the Serco 360 pilot scheme 
but questioned why there was a real issue with litter across the District 
and asked if Serco were working with partners to change people’s 
behaviour regarding litter.  

The Serco 360 scheme promoted the ‘culture’ that everyone was 
responsible for and have a role to play in maintaining the quality of the 
local environment.  Staff could report any properties where they had 
concerns of the wellbeing of the household as part of the commitment to 

11



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
25 January 2018

6

Action By
safeguarding.  An extra set of eyes and ears across the waste/recycling 
services to log environmental issues (flytipping, potholes, graffitti, litter 
etc). 
 
Mr Boult advised that Serco viewed this issue as requiring two 
solutions, education and enforcement. As an organisation they had 
invested in an education bus that visited schools and focussed on target 
areas such as recycling. The Organisation believed enforcement was 
important and the issue of fines for littering and fly tipping worked.

Councillor Crawford requested a copy of the presentation to be sent to 
Members. He expressed concern that litter was not being picked up 
prior to the grass being cut. 

Councillor Wilkinson agreed with Serco’s comments regarding 
enforcement. He further agreed the 360 pilot was a good idea especially 
for reporting issues such as potholes that could be made directly to 
Norfolk County Council Highways. An issue he had recognised was 
grass verges being cut outside people’s houses and not being cleared 
from the adjoining pathway.

Councillor Jermy queried how Serco ensured the satisfaction survey 
was a fair representation across the district.  Mr Boult advised it was 
conducted by an independent survey specialist. The brief was to get a 
statistically sound representation of the calls, once a particular level of 
male, female, age specific calls were reached they closed that group 
base down. 

Councillor Brame commented that there was a big issue with road 
cleansing and grass verge cutting. Some areas had vehicles parked at 
all times so was never tended to. He queried if there was a mechanism 
in place whereby Serco could advise the Parish Council as to the date 
they intended to clean and the vehicle owners could be advised and the 
area kept vehicle free. Mr Boult agreed that this was a valid point that 
he would discuss with Officers.  

Councillor Dimoglou expressed his thanks to Serco for their good 
service relating to flytipping. He queried if the 360 service carried an 
additional charge to Breckland Council. Mr Boult confirmed that the 
concept was utilising the drivers time using in-cab equipment whilst on 
their round so did not envisage a charge. In the future there could be an 
additional cost dependant on what they were being requested to do but 
the scheme was not set up with an extra charge. Members were 
informed of a smartphone app enabling residents to report 
environmental issues such as fly-tipping.

Councillor Jermy asked if Serco had a policy for employing apprentices. 
Mr Boult confirmed that they did - any new bid for tenders included a 
commitment that 5% of employees were apprentices. 

Councillor Newton asked for Serco’s opinion on modern equipment for 
cleansing.  Mr Boult advised mechanical equipment was unreliable. 
Their view was in areas such as Breckland foot patrol was most 
effective.

Councillor Newton highlighted inconsistencies in cleansing certain 

12



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
25 January 2018

7

Action By
areas.  Mr Boult advised that the Towns were the priority and each area 
was zoned and suggested that if Councillors knew of certain problem 
areas to discuss these with Officers with a view of enhancing the 
service in those areas. 

Councillor Darby raised an issue with fallen leaves not being cleared 
away and was advised to speak to Sarah Simpson with his concerns. 

The Chairman thanked Serco for their presentation.

10/18 UNSIGHTLY SITES UPDATE (AGENDA ITEM 10) 

The Executive Director of Place provided Members with the progress to 
date on this matter.  He asked Members to contact Steve James, the 
Communities Manager, outside of this meeting if they had any further 
questions.

All owners had been contacted since the previous meeting.  Some 
cases were very straightforward but some were involved in a legal 
process and were quite complex.  In terms of delivery, 49 sites had 
been identified, and out of that 49, 12 had been scored as priority sites 
of which 7 had already seen positive results.  Works had commenced 
on 14 of the non-priority sites and noticeable improvements had been 
made either by way of actual works or by written responses from the 
owners.

The Chairman reminded Members of a suggestion that had been made 
at a previous meeting about setting a Team up from the O&SC to 
discuss each site in question; obviously this had not come about and 
she was unsure how this should be progressed.  The Executive Director 
of Place suggested that the Chairman and Councillor Jermy be invited 
in future when such matters were discussed.  The Communities 
Manager would be asked to arrange a meeting and invites would be 
sent accordingly.

Councillor Jermy felt that it was important to keep Ward Members 
informed of any progress and any actions taken.  The Executive 
Director of Place agreed that Ward Member engagement was 
important.  Procedures would be put in place and where appropriate 
press releases would be issued.

Councillor Richmond asked if any Council Tax had to be paid on empty 
properties.  Members were informed that it would depend on the 
circumstances and how long the property had been empty.  However, 
this question would be taken back to Officers at the Anglia Revenues 
Partnership.

Members would be kept informed of all progress in future.

11/18 TASK AND FINISH GROUPS (AGENDA ITEM 11) 

1. Flagship Housing Task & Finish Group

Councillor Turner be appointed as a member of this Group.

2. Public Works Loan Board Task & Finish Group

13



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
25 January 2018

8

Action By

Councillor Kybird to replace Councillor Dimoglou as Chairman.

The necessary arrangements would be made with relevant 
Officers to prepare the Terms of Reference and set up the first 
meeting.

12/18 OUTSIDE BODY FEEDBACK (STANDING ITEM) (AGENDA ITEM 12) 

Councillor Wilkinson provided Members with an update on the hospital 
discharge pilot scheme/transfer of care from hospital to home.

In December 2017 the Norfolk & Norwich University Hospital had taken 
on the funding of the pilot scheme from the five District Councils in order 
to maintain the momentum of the initiative until the end of the current 
financial year by which time it was hoped that more sustainable funding 
could be secured. 

Councillor Wilkinson said that he would be speaking to the Portfolio 
Holder concerned to ask if Breckland Council could once again fund this 
scheme until further funding was made available.

He would like to see it continued as since the pilot started it had saved 
385 bed days over 17 weeks leading to a saving of £77,000 and it was 
estimated that over the course of a year the scheme could lead to a 
saving of £330,690.  The pilot had halved the average length of stay in 
older people’s beds and the overall length of patient stay in hospital had 
been reduced by 42%.

On a slightly different matter, the volume of calls to the ambulance 
service had increased dramatically over the Christmas and New Year 
period with no complaints received.

Members raised concerns with the potential closure of a number of 
health schemes in Breckland.

Councillor Matthews mentioned a pilot scheme in Swaffham run by 
Norfolk County Council that was trying to bring together all parts of the 
local care and support market, from nursing homes to voluntary 
organisations. She also mentioned a number of residential homes that 
had NHS beds available that were not being used.  Councillor Wilkinson 
was asked to look into this matter.

13/18 SCRUTINY CALL-INS (STANDING ITEM) (AGENDA ITEM 13) 

None.

14/18 COUNCILLOR CALL FOR ACTION (STANDING ITEM) (AGENDA 
ITEM 14) 

None.

15/18 WORK PROGRAMME (AGENDA ITEM 15) 

The topics listed for the next meeting were discussed and the Key 
Decision Plan was noted.

14



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
25 January 2018

9

Action By

16/18 NEXT MEETING (AGENDA ITEM 16) 

The arrangements for the next meeting on Thursday, 8 March 2018 at 
2pm in the Anglia Room were noted.

It was further noted that the pre-meeting would commence at 1.15pm.

The meeting closed at 5.25 pm  CHAIRMAN

15



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of:    Deputy Leader and Executive Member Strategy, Governance & 
Transformation, Councillor Sam Chapman-Allen

To: Overview & Scrutiny Commission – 8 March 2018
Council - 12 April 2018

Author: Susie Richardson, HR Manager 

Subject: Additions to the HR Policy Handbook; 
- Career Break Policy
- Stuck Not Sick Policy
- Drugs and Alcohol Policy

Purpose: This report presents new policies to the HR Policy Handbook. 

Recommendation(s):

1) That the following policies are recommended to Full Council for approval; 

a) Career Break Policy
b) Stuck Not Sick Policy
c) Alcohol, Drugs and Substance Misuse Policy 

1.0 BACKGROUND 

1.1 In January 2017, Full Council approved the Employee Handbook which contains a 
number of employee policies.  In line with what was agreed at that meeting, three 
additional policies have been developed and this report seeks the approval of those 
additional policies.

1.3 Each policy outlines legal principles only and any specific details will fall within 
procedures. This is to enable longevity of the policies are sustainable for a longer 
period of time, therefore reducing the review periods and mitigate the risk of non-
compliance. Where changes to legislation or constitution arise, the policies will be 
amended accordingly. 

1.4 As new policies are adopted, all staff will be communicated with to raise awareness 
of its existence.

1.5 The new policies and a key summary of each are below:

Policy Key summary

Career Break Policy 
Appendix 1 – Policy 3 - Special Leave, page 
2

The development of a Career Break 
Policy/Procedure has stemmed from a 
request from a long serving staff member to 
take a Career Break.  There is no scheme 

16

Agenda Item 9



currently available hence the preparation of 
this new policy.

An employee is required to have had 26 
weeks’ employment before they may 
request a career break.  This is in line with 
statutory leave such as maternity, adoption 
and parental leave requests.  Career breaks 
are unpaid and may be requested by any 
employee so long as they meet the length of 
service required.

A benchmarking exercise has been carried 
out with neighbouring authorities.  Out of the 
6 surveyed, 5 of those have had Career 
break schemes in place between 6 and 10 
years and on average have 2 requests per 
year.   

It is anticipated that the Career Break policy 
would enhance the benefits for current and 
prospective employees and enable an 
effective retention tool.

Stuck Not Sick Policy 
Appendix 1 – Policy 3 - Special Leave, page 
2

The Stuck Not Sick procedure gives 
employees access to two emergency days in 
the leave year where, with a genuine reason, 
they are able to take a leave of absence 
without prior agreement, but with the 
authorisation of their line manager.  This 
leave of absence can be covered by annual 
leave, flexitime, or through leave without pay 
or where in the interest of the service by 
repayment of the time within an agreed 
period. This may cover times of emergency 
such as adverse weather conditions making 
it difficult to travel to work, or problems 
needing an employee’s attention with little or 
no notice.  

The policy aims to address situations which 
are not covered by existing policies and 
procedures and where currently an employee 
might be tempted to telephone in sick when 
in fact they are not genuinely sick, but they 
are genuinely stuck

Alcohol, Drugs and Substance Misuse 
Policy 
Appendix 2 – Policy 12 Alcohol, Drugs and 
Substance Misuse Policy

The policy addresses the principals by which 
the Council would like employees to operate 
by when addressing alcohol, drugs and 
substances. 

17



The recommendation is to test for Alcohol, 
Drugs and Substance Misuse on a ‘just 
cause’ basis rather than adopt random 
sampling.

The Council seek to take a supportive stance 
where possible, but acknowledges this 
cannot always be the case when the safety 
of others is at risk. The approach the Council 
will take in the different situations is outlined 
in the procedure and stand by its 
commitment to act on their Duty of Care to 
all.

2.0 OPTIONS 

2.1 Approve the new policies as part of the HR Policy Handbook for Breckland District 
Council.

2.2 Do Nothing 

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) 

3.1 To mitigate risk and ensure appropriate policies are in place to deal with 
employee related issues in a fair and consistent manner.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 

4.1 To mitigate risk in the application of policies. 

4.2 To provide transparent, consistent and fair policies across the Council.

4.3 To actively support culture and change in a positive way 

5.0 IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 Carbon Footprint/Environmental Issues

5.1.1 None

5.2 Constitution & Legal

5.2.1 Amendments to relevant policies will be made as and where dictated by any 
change to constitutional or legal requirements. 

5.2.3 The Policy Handbook is designed with the intention to reduce the risk of litigation 
against the Council 

5.3 Contracts

5.3.1 None

18



5.4 Corporate Priorities 

5.4.1 The policy proposals are made with the intention of supporting the Councils’ 
corporate priority of providing the right services, at the right time, in the right way by 
ensuring the recruitment of high calibre individuals are in place to help deliver the 
corporate vision. 

5.5 Crime and Disorder

5.5.1 None

5.6 Equality and Diversity/Human Rights

5.6.1 The proposed policies are designed in compliance with Equality and Diversity as 
per the Equality Act 2010.

5.7 Financial

5.7.1   None

5.8 Health and Well-being

5.8.1 None

5.9 Reputation

5.9.1 None 

5.10 Risk Management

5.10.1 These proposals are made (in part) with the intention of reducing the risk of 
litigation against the Council. These proposals are made with the intention of 
supporting the Councils strategic position by enabling effective policy management 
appropriately within the bounds of the law.

5.11 Staffing

5.11.1 These proposals are made in order to ensure the best possible infrastructure is in 
place to recruit, select, retain and performance manage employees across the 
Council.

5.11.2 These proposals are made to ensure both staff and management are clear on 
relevant legislation, best practice and risk mitigation.

5.12 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.12.1  Consultation has taken place with Unison

5.13 Transformation Programme 

5.13.1 These proposals are made to support the Councils Transformation  
programme

19



6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no areas within the community 
which will be affected by the recommendation

7.0 ACRONYMS 
7.1 None used

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Susie Richardson, HR Manager Breckland
Telephone Number: 01362 656844
Email: Susie.richardson@breckland.gov.uk
Key Decision: No
Exempt Decision: No

This report refers to a Mandatory Service

Appendices attached to this report:

Appendix 1 Policy 3 - Special Leave
Appendix 2   Policy 12 - Alcohol, Drugs and Substance Misuse 

20



APPENDIX 1

1

POLICY 3: SPECIAL LEAVE

Additional leave, with or without pay, may be granted in special circumstances, for a limited 
period of time for example bereavement or other compassionate grounds or for jury service. 
Payment for such leave will be made at the discretion of the line manager and in 
consultation with the HR Department. Employees should always let their line manager know 
if they need to take special leave so that each individual situation can be considered fairly 
and consistently.

As a guide the following can apply;
• Death of immediate family member can be up to a maximum of 7 paid days, which 

includes the funeral day. Maximum amounts are normally given to executors of the 
estate to allow them time to organise the funeral and/or estate, additional time may 
be given where appropriate; this must be discussed with the HR Manager.

Immediate family member includes:
Spouse/Partner
Father/Mother including in-laws and step parents 
Brother/Sister/Step Brother/Sister including in-laws 
Son/Daughter/Step Son/Daughter including in-
laws Grandparents or Grandchildren

In exceptional circumstances, other relatives may be considered but this must be discussed 
with the HR Manager.

Other special leave

• Serious domestic instances – one day’s paid leave will be given in such cases e.g. 
house fire, flood or burglary

• Sporting events – up to 5 days’ paid leave may be granted where an employee is 
participating in a national or international event as a representative of their country.
Additional leave may be taken as annual leave or unpaid leave.

• Jury service – paid leave will be granted to an employee called for Jury Service, unless 
exemption is secured. An allowance for loss of earnings is payable by the court which the 
employee must claim. The court will send the employee a loss of earnings certificate and 
this should be provided to HR who will arrange for the amount of the allowance to be 
deducted from their pay.

• Acting as witness -
(a) In the case of an employee attending as a witness on behalf of the Council,

leave with pay will be granted, on the understanding that witness fees received 
(excluding travel and subsistence expenses) are paid to the Council.

(b) In the case of an employee called by the Court as a witness leave with pay will be 
granted provided the employee applies to the court for loss of earnings which
must be paid back to the Council. Employees should inform their managers as 
soon as they are informed that they are required to attend and should provide 
their manager with a copy of the notification.

(c) In all other cases where the employee is called to attend court as a witness, leave 
without pay will be granted. Employees can claim from the person citing

21



APPENDIX 1

2

them, the relevant amount in respect of loss of earnings.
• Reserve Forces – Employees who are a member of the Reserve or Territorial Army 

should advise their line manager at the earliest opportunity. Up to a maximum of 10 days 
paid leave will be granted in any one leave year. As the RA/TA pay for training, the 
Council will make up the difference in any lost pay. Details of training dates should be 
provided to the line manager.

• Religious Holidays – Any leave required for specific religious holidays may be taken 
through the usual annual leave or flexitime request.

• Fertility treatment – Up to 5 days’ unpaid leave will be granted in any one year for an 
employee to undergo fertility treatment.

• Medical appointments – reasonable time off will be granted to attend medical/dental 
appointments. It is expected that employees will arrange their appointments outside of 
working hours, however, if this is impossible, employees should ensure that their 
appointments are at the beginning or end of the day to minimise disruption to their work.
There is no statutory right for employees to be paid for this leave, however payment may 
be made at the discretion of their line manager, who may request evidence of the 
appointment.

• Any other leave – any leave required not specified in this policy must be discussed with 
the line manager and HR team.

 Career Break - Employees must have 26 weeks’ or more continuous service before any 
request for a career break can be made.  A career break may be any period of time of 3 
months or more. 

The career break scheme will be open to all employees with the requisite service, 
including part-time employees.  Career Breaks will be unpaid. The granting of a career 
break and the length of the break will be entirely at the organisation's discretion and will 
depend on the needs of the business at the time in question having regard to any other 
issue, use of other special leave. Employees are not permitted to carry out paid work 
during a career break, unless in exceptional circumstances, after having been agreed by 
a Chief Officer/Deputy Chief Officer.

An employee will normally be ineligible if they are currently:

 subject to disciplinary action, investigation or an active warning
 subject to a performance improvement plan;
 subject to an investigation following a complaint or grievance, the resolution of which 

would be unreasonably delayed due to a career break;
 subject to formal action under the managing attendance procedure;
 subject to a service review, or;
 within 2 years of returning to work following a previous career break

Workers not directly employed by the council are not eligible to apply.

 Stuck not Sick – Employees have access to two emergency days in the leave year where, 
with a genuine reason, they are able to take a leave of absence without prior agreement, 
but with the authorisation of their line manager.  This leave of absence can be covered by 
annual leave, flexitime, through leave without pay or where in the interest of the service 
by repayment of the time within a two month period. This may cover times of emergency 

22



APPENDIX 1

3

such as adverse weather conditions making it difficult to travel to work, or problems 
needing an employee’s attention with little or no notice.  

23



APPENDIX 2

1

POLICY 12: ALCOHOL, DRUGS AND SUBSTANCE MISUSE

The Council is committed to the health and well-being of employees and the inappropriate 
use of alcohol or substances can have a negative impact on both. At work, alcohol, drugs or 
substance misuse can result in reduced levels of attendance, impaired work performance 
and increased risks to health and safety. The effects of alcohol, drugs or substances use 
may also be detrimental to the Council’s reputation and image and its ability to deliver high 
quality services.

The main principles of this policy are:

 To maintain a safe, healthy and productive workplace
 The Council does not condone alcohol, drugs or substance abuse
 The Council will offer help and support to any employee with an alcohol, drug or  

substance misuse problem, as far as reasonably practicable
 The Council will not tolerate:

o The misuse of substances, including alcohol or drugs, on Council premises 
o Intoxication at work through the misuse of alcohol, drugs or substances taken 

elsewhere
o Supply, production or storage of illegal drugs on the premises

Substance Testing

Random drug and alcohol testing is not part of this policy.

Any employee may be required to undergo ‘for cause’ testing where an incident or accident 
at work occurs, or there is evidence of abnormal or unacceptable behaviour, and alcohol, 
drugs or substances are suspected to be involved.

Alcohol self-testing will be made available to certain groups of staff where capability is critical 
to the safety of themselves and others. Anyone who undertakes a self- test that indicates 
they are intoxicated may stand down from their duties without pay. 

Testing forms one part of a capability or conduct investigation in line with the disciplinary 
procedure, where on reasonable grounds it may be suspected that substance abuse is 
involved, and confirmation of this is needed to identify the appropriate action. 

Responsibilities

Managers have a responsibility to act promptly where there are reasonable grounds to 
believe that an employee is not complying with the principals of this policy.

Employees have a responsibility to ensure they comply with the principles of this policy. 
They are expected to present a professional, courteous and efficient image to those with 
whom they come into contact at all times. They therefore have a personal responsibility to 
adopt a responsible attitude towards the consumption of alcohol, drugs and other 
substances to which this policy relates.

24



Overview Scrutiny Work Programme 2017/18

This is an outline programme only and will be amended as issues arise or priorities change

Date Topic Member / Director / Lead Officer Objectives & Desired Outcomes

08 March 2018 Review of HR Policies:  Stuck not 

sick policy / Career Break Policy / 

Drugs & Alcohol Policy

Susie Vandenbergh Hr Manager Members are asked to consider the policies prior to full 

Council

Car Park Management Simon Taylor-Avery Facilities Manager Review the Council's car parking management policy, 

specifically:  

Should there be an alternative policy incorporating 

enforcement or charging that will support the viability of 

the towns

Is there a way the Council can generate income either from 

charging or by other means?

New local plans are being put forward for the towns, but 

there is no provision for car parking? How will the towns 

deal with the expansion?

Norfolk County Council - Highways Matt Worden Maintenance of Roads within Breckland.

19 April 2018 Data Protection Policy Mark Stinson To review the Policy in light of the requirements of the 

General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR).

Review of HR Policies: - Salary 

Sacrifice Procedure

Susie Vandenbergh HR Manager Members are asked to consider the policies prior to full 

Council

Air Quality Action Plan - Swaffham Andrew Grimley To provide Members with an update on the Action plan

25

A
genda Item

 14



Overview Scrutiny Work Programme 2017/18

This is an outline programme only and will be amended as issues arise or priorities change

Breckland Bridge Business Plan 

update

Ralph Burton / Christine Marshall To provide Members with an update prior to the report 

going to Cabinet on 12 June.

Corporate Enforcement Policy Sarah Shipley To review and update the Breckland Corporate 

enforcement policies and create a single joint policy for 

both Authorities

31 May 2018 Qtr 4 2017-2018 Performance 

Overview

Deputy Leader, Exec Member for 

Strategy, Governance and 

Transformation. Greg Pearson

To provide an update on Council Performance for the 

period 01/01/2018-31/03/2018

Review of HR Policies: - Flexible 

Retirement Procedure

Members are asked to consider the policies prior to full 

Council

Open for Business Greg Pearson Members will receive an update on the Council's approach 

to being more accessible and open to Local businesses and 

businesses looking to locate into the district.

LGA Peer review Action Plan Anna Graves Members to have input into the Action plan. 

27 September 2018 Qtr 1 2018-2019 Performance 

Overview

Deputy Leader, Exec Member for 

Strategy, Governance and 

Transformation. Greg Pearson

To provide an update on Council Performance for the 

period 01/04/2018 -30/06/2018

08 November 2018 Review of HR Policies - Flextime & 

TOIL policy / Market Supplements 

Policy / Honoraria & Spot Bonus 

Policy / Secondments Policy

Susie Vandenbergh HR Manager Members are asked to consider the policies prior to full 

Council

QTR 2 2018-2019 Performance 

Overview

Deputy Leader, Executive Member for 

Strategy, Governance and 

Transformation. Greg Pearson

To provide an update on Council Performance for the 

period 01/07/2018-30/09/2018

26



Overview Scrutiny Work Programme 2017/18

This is an outline programme only and will be amended as issues arise or priorities change

07 March 2019 QTR 3 2018-2019 Performance 

Overview

Deputy Leader, Executive Member for 

Strategy, Governance and 

Transformation. Greg Pearson

To provide an update on Council Performance for the 

period 01/10/2018-31/12/0218

30 May 2019 QTR 4 2018-2019 Performance 

Overview

Deputy Leader, Executive Member for 

Stratefy, Governance and 

Transformation. Greg Pearson

To provide an update on Council Performance for the 

period 01/01/2019-31/03/2019

Topics to be scheduled (These are topics raised by Members)

Date Topic Member / Director / Lead Officer Objectives & Desired Outcomes

Norfolk County Council - Schools Through Local Plan document – more developments will be 

built over coming years, but our schools are full.  How will 

NCC plan for this?

Norfolk County Council - Highways Question - look at levels of roads & drainage & how 

Highways deal with this.

Consider a project to support 

encourage market towns to 

support tourism

Market Town Initiative - 

resource4Growth monies given to 

town - 

Request Towns to report to OSC on progress of spending

Contractual Performance Review the Planning & Building Control contract

Review the Environmental Services Contract 

Public Toilets Simon Taylor-Avery How have the towns used the money given to them and are 

the toilets still in use?

Health task & finish group To arrange a T&F group to discuss health issues within the 

district

Autumn 2018 Unreasonable behaviour/ vexatious 

complaints
Policy to be reviewed annually

27



1 

 

KEY DECISION PLAN 
 

VERSION 03/18 

 Issued –  
Effective for Period: 
 01/03/18 - 28/02/19 

 

 
Representations in respect of all the matters shown should be sent in writing, at least one week before the date or period the decision is likely to be made, to:   

Julie Britton, Democratic Services Officer, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham, Norfolk, NR19 1EE. 
Telephone 01362 656343 Email democraticservices@breckland.gov.uk 

 
The Key Decision Plan shows all key and significant decisions that are likely to be made over the next twelve months 

 
The Key Decision Plan is updated on a rolling basis and shows the decisions that will be considered and the date when the decision is expected to be made.  . 
 
Key decisions are Executive decisions involving expenditure or savings exceeding 25% of the budget sum approved for a particular service or function, or a decision which 
significantly affects the community in two or more wards or electoral divisions. 
Significant decisions are: 1. A decision made in connection with setting the Council Tax; 2. A decision to approve any matter relating to a Policy or Strategic Plan; 3. Any 
non-Executive decision which significantly affects the community in two or more wards or electoral divisions. Some of the decisions will be recommendations to full Council, 
particularly if they impact on the Budget and the Policy Framework (comprising of statutory plans and strategies) 
 

PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT 

PURPOSE OF DECISION 
 

CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION 

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS  

LIKELY DATE OF DECISION AND WHO 
WILL MAKE DECISION 

Executive 
Member for 
Finance 
 
Council Tax 
Setting 2018-19 
 

 
To set the amounts of Council Tax applicable for 2018-
19 for each valuation band and in each part of the 
District.  
 

See budget setting report  
 

Council Tax Setting 
2018-19 
 

Council 22 Feb 2018 
 

28

mailto:democraticservices@breckland.gov.uk


 

2 

PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT 

PURPOSE OF DECISION 
 

CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION 

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS  

LIKELY DATE OF DECISION AND WHO 
WILL MAKE DECISION 

Executive 
Member for 
People & 
Information 
 
 
 
IT Technology 
Strategy 
 

 
 

 
 

IT Technology 
Strategy 
 

Joint Informal Exec Briefing 5 Mar 
2018 
 
Cabinet 20 Mar 2018 
 
Council 5 Apr 2018 
 

Executive 
Member for 
Growth 
 
Alternative 
Proposal for 
Electricity Power 
Scheme in 
Snetterton 
 

 
To approve an alternative improved Electricity Power 
Scheme for Snetterton, to that already approved at Full 
Council in January 2017.  
 

Breckland Directors  
Executive Member for 
Growth  
 

Alternative 
Proposal for 
Electricity Power 
Scheme in 
Snetterton 
Alternative 
Proposal for 
Electricity Power 
Scheme in 
Snetterton 
 

Joint Informal Exec Briefing 5 Mar 
2018 
 
Cabinet 20 Mar 2018 
 
Council 5 Apr 2018 
 

Executive 
Member for 
Place (Health 
Lead) 
 
PFI 
Benchmarking 
Exercise 
 

For the cabinet to agree to delegate authority to the 
Executive Director for Strategy & Governance for the 
decision to accept or reject benchmark figures 
 

 
 

PFI Benchmarking 
Exercise 
 

Cabinet 20 Mar 2018 
 

29



 

3 

PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT 

PURPOSE OF DECISION 
 

CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION 

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS  

LIKELY DATE OF DECISION AND WHO 
WILL MAKE DECISION 

Councillor Adrian 
Stasiak 
 
Snetterton Power 
Upgrade Project 
 

Briefing report for Director and Members at December 
2017 (to 20/12/17) 
 

 
 

Snetterton Power 
Upgrade Project 
 

Council 12 Apr 2018 
 

Executive 
Member for 
People & 
Information 
 
Air Quality Action 
Plan 
 

To approve the Air Quality Action Plan as required by 
Part IV of the Environment Act 1995 in respect of the Air 
Quality Management Area declared in Swaffham. 

 

Officers and ward 
members across the 
council will be consulted 
along with colleagues and 
representatives from 
other affected 
organisations and 
community groups, 
particularly Norfolk 
County Council and 
Swaffham Town Council. 
 

Air Quality Action 
Plan 
 

Overview and Scrutiny Commission 19 
Apr 2018 
 
Cabinet 1 May 2018 
 

Executive 
Member for 
Finance 
 
Budget, Medium 
Term Plan and 
Capital Strategy 
2019-20 
 

To consider and approve the capital and revenue budget 
estimates and proposed council tax, the financial 
medium term plan and the capital strategy 
 

 
 

Budget, Medium 
Term Plan and 
Capital Strategy 
2019-20 
 

Executive Management Team 14 Jan 
2019 
 
Cabinet 5 Feb 2019 
 
Council 21 Feb 2019 
 

30



 

4 

PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT 

PURPOSE OF DECISION 
 

CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION 

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS  

LIKELY DATE OF DECISION AND WHO 
WILL MAKE DECISION 

Executive 
Member for 
Finance 
 
Treasury 
Management 
Policy & Strategy 
2019-20 
 

This report outlines the Council’s Prudential Indicators 
for 2019-20 to 2022-23 and sets out the expected 
treasury operations for this period and requests a 
recommendation to Full Council to approve the Treasury 
Management Policy, Strategy and Prudential Indicators 
for 2019-20 to 2022-23 
 

 
 

Treasury 
Management 
Policy & Strategy 
2019-20 
 

Governance & Audit Committee 15 
Feb 2019 
 

Executive 
Member for 
Finance 
 
Council Tax 
Setting 2019-20 
 

To set the amounts of Council Tax applicable for 2019-
20 for each valuation band and in each part of the 
district 
 

 
 

Council Tax Setting 
2019-20 
 

Council 21 Feb 2019 
 

Executive 
Member for 
People & 
Information 
 
Corporate 
Enforcement 
Policy 
 

To review and update the Breckland and South Holland 
Corporate Enforcement Policies and create a single joint 
policy for both authorities. 
 

 
 

Corporate 
Enforcement Policy 
 

Cabinet 1 May 2018 
 

 
 

If you have any comments or queries regarding any of the entries in the Key Decision Plan please contact: 
 

Julie Britton, Democratic Services Officer, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham, Norfolk, NR19 1EE. 
Telephone 01362 656343 Email democraticservices@breckland.gov.uk  

 
 

31

mailto:democraticservices@breckland.gov.uk

	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	Minutes

	9 HR Policy Handbook Updates
	Appendix 1 - POLICY 3 Special Leave revised Dec17v5
	Appendix 2 - POLICY 12  Alcohol Drugs and Substance Misuse Policy

	14 Work Programme
	Key Decision Plan - March 2018
	The Key Decision Plan shows all key and significant decisions that are likely to be made over the next twelve months



